
Railway strike strands 
McConnachie' s band 
The week-long rail strike at the end 
of August and the beginning of Sep-
tember caused little or no disruption 
to the bank's normal functioning. 
For most of our staff as well, the 

strike was just a minor inconven-
ience. For N. McConnachie, man-
ager at Estevan, Saskatchewan, it 
was a four-Aspirin headache. 
Mr. McConnachie had spent his 

vacatio clliw.eroni.ng a.Jllarching 
band, composed of 60 Estevan teen-
agers, on a tour of the Maritimes. 

They had participated in Char-
lottetown's homecoming celebration 
parade, and given concerts at 
Somerset, N.S. and at the Shediak 
lobster festival. They made it back 
as far as Ottawa before the trains 
stopped. 
What do you do when you're 

stranded in Ottawa with 60 teen-
agers on your hands? Not to men-
tion the 15 adults accompanying the 
band? Hurried contacts were made 
with the Centennial Commission, 

which was co-sponsoring the tour. 
The Commission came through 

with flying colours. The next day, 
a chartered airliner was waiting to 
fly them as far as Winnipeg. They 
arrived at the Winnipeg air terminal 
late at night, and a phone call had 
brought a small contingent of school 
buses to take them the last 300 
miles to Estevan. 
And Mr. McConnachie arrived 

home in plenty of time to return 
to work the next morning. 

Hazelton: preservation 
of a vanishing culture 
by Lois Light 

Hazelton, in northern British Col-
umbia, is probably one of the only 
towns in North America entirely 
surrounded by Indian reserves. 
Once the home of the Gytksan peo-
ple, it is today an active little town, 
the hub of whatever industry there 
is in the area, and flanked on all 
sides by places with strange-sound-
ing names, such as Kitwanga, Kis-
piox, Kitwankool, and Hagwilget. 
Nearly every window in town offers 
a view of the spectacular Rocher de 
Boule mountain, or the swift, tum-
bling Skeena River, the 180-mile 
artery that joins Hazelton to the sea. 
In this island in the middle of 

reserve land, and with half their 
customers Indian, it was almost in-
evitable that the managers who 
come to the area would become in-
volved with Indian culture. Donald 
S_teele, manager of the brancllfrom 
~o 1961, was the first to take 
an active part in the restoring and 
preserving of the district's pristine 

.....----nrnta~er ues. reelfug l'O!'fWr 
that artifacts should be left in their 
own environment, he talked local 
Indians into donating, selling, or 

loaning their family keepsakes and 
treasures to the Skeena Treasure 
House, the museum which opened 
in Hazelton in 1960. 
When Mr. Steele left Hazelton 

for Terrace, his interest in the mu-
seum went with him, and his search 
for priceless exhibits went on. When 
he left the area this spring for a 
position as an inspector with dis-
trict headqUarrerr tn v ancouyer, be 

.... left behim:hTecord of indefagitable 
effort in helping preserve the way 
of the Tsimshian people. He still 
has one of the best and most com-
plete collections of printed material 
about these people in existence. 
Although no longer in the dis-

trict, Mr. Steele maintains his con-
nections through his position as 
vice-president of the Totem Restor-
""a:tlon Society which he helped 
found. 

<-- Hazeiton's museum project was 
begun in 1950, sparked largely by 
Mrs. Polly Sargent, whose hus-
band's family have lived in the 
Hazelton area over sixty years. Fed 
-ypToceeC!s from dances, omgo-
games, and other local affairs, the 
museum's fund grew over the years 
until a final push in connection with 

the B.C. centennial celebrations in 
1958 enabled its realization. The 
exhibits were confined exclusively 
to artifacts made by the Tsimshian. 
Tsimshian was the over-all name 

given to the three dialects spoken 
by the people who inhabited the 
Upper Skeena region-Tsimshian, 
Miska and Gytksan. 
The museum building is a replica 

of a native community house, but 
without the fire pit in the centre 
or the smoke hole in the roof. It was 
built by native craftsmen, and its 
two large front doors are decorated 
with traditional native designs. At 
one side stands a Kitamuldo totem 
pole, carved by one of the unex-
celled Nass River carvers. A prime 
example of their work-an 81-foot 
giant-is on display in Toronto's 
Ontario Provincial Museum. On 
the other side of the Hazelton 
museum is an Indian grave house. 
These were structures erected over 
the grave of a loved one, then filled 
with that person's belongings. 
'You'd see everything in them 

from clothes to sewmg machines,' 
explains the wife of a former 

Continued on page 3 

Client loses interest 
in century-old transaction 
A customer at our Owen Sound 
Branch recently presented the de-
benture shown at the right, and 
asked whether it would be possible 
to redeem it. Issued to raise money 
for the County of Grey in the Prov-
ince of Canada, the note is dated 

January 28, 1959. (Grey is the 
county in which Owen Sound is 
situated. The Province of Canada 
was composed of Upper and Lower 
Canada, which after Confederation 
became the Provinces of Ontario 
and Quebec.) 

CGM's Conference 
gets underway 
This year's Chief General Manager's 
Conference takes place at Head 
Office September .28, 29, and 30. 
Bringing together man:igers and 
senior officers from throughout the 
country, the annual conference 
reviews the .bank's policies in near-
ly every sphere of operations. 
Participants this year will num-

ber 68 from the various districts 
and about 30 from Head Office. 
They will hear reports and form 
discussion groups on such topics as 
staff, marketing, commercial-in-
dustrial development and branch 
operations. The discussion groups 
are encouraged to make sugges-
tions and recommendations. 

The debenture, in the amount of 
£250 at 6% annual interest pay-
able semi-annually, was to mature 
in 1879. For some unknown reason, 
it was never redeemed, and appar-
ently lay unnoticed among other old 
documents all these years. 
In an attempt to discover if the 

debenture were still of any value, 
London Branch was sent a copy 
and asked to contact Glyn, Mills 
and Company, at whose 'banking 
house' the debenture was payable. 
As it developed, our client was 

out of luck. A lawyer advised us 
that an 1899 statute absolved Grey 
County of responsibility for re-
deeming the debentures. 
Which is unfortunate. If the 

principal and interest on the de-
benture had been continuously re-
invested at the same rate, it would 
now be worth about $419,012.85 
-a sizable sum, even with the dollar 
worth what it is today. 
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Royal honoured for conservation role 
The Royal Bank was the sole Canadian organization among the six hon-
oured last month by the Soil Conservation Society of America. J. R. 
Heron, editor of the bank's Monthly Letter, is shown with the award. In 
granting it, the society cited the August 1946 issue of the Lei/er as possibly 
'the first authoritative voice in Canada raised in favor of soil conservation: 

Poles at Kispiox, before restoration. The poles were taken down, treated, 
and reset into concrete bases. 

This debenture, issued in 1859, was presented to us recently for redemp-
tion. The spelling of 'Glynn Mills and Company' appears to be a printer's 
error. Glyn, Mills and Company is still a major British bank. 
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A vanishing culture 
Continued from page 1 

branch manager. 'Sometimes there 
was pitifully little. There's nothing 
in any of them now, of course. 
Tourists and collectors have taken 
everything.' 

On display, too, at the Museum is 
a Haida canoe Mr. Steele found in 
a barn at Kalum Lake. He tracked 
down the owner, who offered to 
donate it, and Mr. Steele hauled it 
to Hazelton on a trailer. 
With the museum established, the 

preservation of what was left of the 
totem poles in the area became Mrs. 
Sargent's next project. In I 961 she 
and Mr. Steele, together with Stan 
Rough, another Indian-Jore enthu-
siast, founded the Skeena Totem 
Pole Restoration Society. 
A grant from the Koerner Foun-

dation in Vancouver had financed 
the restoration of the Kitamuldo 
pole beside the museum. Now, rec-
ognizing the importance of the 
Tsmishian poles, the provincial 
government promised a grant to 
the Society, matching dollar for 
dollar up to a firm commitment of 
$20,000, with the understanding 
that they woutd continue o support 
the work as long as it progressed. 

The moving of the Kitamu!do 
pole from its original place in front 
of the House of the Kitamuldo at 
Hazelton involved permission of 
both the owners and the Indian De-
partment, and negotiations took 
three years. And when the Indians 
insisted on the traditional feasting 
and festivities being celebrated for 
its erection, Mrs. Sargent and Mr. 
Steele were dismayed. 
'That kind of expense could im-

poverish people who just couldn't 
afford it,' said Mrs. Sargent. 'Don 
and I almost gave up the project 
then and there.' Then she came up 
with an idea. If they restored a vil-
lage at a time instead of a pole at a 
time, everyone would be involved 
and there would be nobody for the 
totems' owners to give a party for. 
Besides the stipulation of no feast-
ing, it was agreed that the restored 
poles must be erected on their 
original sites, and that the person 
who owned them give his consent. 

Of the 110 totem poles still in 
existence in the Upper Skeena, 65 
were still standing and considered 
redeemable and worth preserving. 
To quote anthropologist Dr. Marius 
Barbeau, considered the fOremost= 
alithority on totems: 'At its best, 
the excellence of their decorative 
style is nowhere surpassed by any 
other form of aboriginal art, and as 
~an expr:ess.jpn q,lnfiliYJWWOoality 
and craftsmanship they are impres-
sive and unique ... It is in their true 
home that these picturesque crea-
tions can be seen to best advantage.' 

Of the many hundreds of poles 
that existed along the coast of B.C., 
on Vancouver Island, the Queen 

Charlotte Islands and Alaska, few 

are left on their original grounds. 
Although some are claimed to be 
hundreds of years old, this is in fact 
impossible. The toll from deteriora-
tion is high. The poles are made of 
green cedar and, when they are 
put into the ground without pre-
servative, their life span is usually 
around fifty years-less on exposed 
coastal areas where moisture is in-
tense; more in inland spots where 
moisture is moderate and the soil a 
mixture of sand and gravel. This 
explains the fact that the only col-
lection that still stands fairly intact 
is that of the Gytksan nation on the 
Upper Skeena around Hazelton, 
where the latter conditions exist. 
Some poles were destroyed by 

the owners themselves during reli-
gious ceremonies under the banner 
of Christianity, but in truth the real 
meaning of the poles and their fig-
ures had escaped the evangelizing 
missionaries. As Dr. Barbeau points 
out, 'The figures consisted of sym-
bols and illustrations, many of them 
comparable to our heraldry and 
other-S commemorating myths or-
tribal traditions. They were not 
pagan gods or demons, and they 
were never worshipped. They in-
spired veneration rather than actual 
religious de"otion.' 
Some of the poles were erected 

as memorials to the dead, corres-
ponding to our tombstones. None 
of them were ever worked on by 
members of the family. They were 
carved by craftsmen, the very best 
that could be afforded by the griev-
ing family. The size of the pole and 
the beauty of its figures proclaimed 
the fame of those it represented, 
and also their material wealth. Some 
of the most beautiful poles were 
made as house posts, in a manner 
illustrated by the poles at the front 
corners of the Skeena Treasure 
House Museum. The poles with the 
'hole in the sky' were either for 
cross beams to be fitted into, or 
were door posts, the hole being the 
entrance, big enough for the occu-
pants to crawl through but too small 
for an unsuspecting enemy to rush 
through if he were unfamiliar with 
its size. 
The estimated cost of restoring 

a pole is $650. The pole is taken 
down, deaned, any rotted parts re-
moved, thoroughly dried and then 
sprayed with a preservative solution. 
When it is raised again it is set into 
a concrete base. With periodic in-
spections and re-spraying when 
necessary, it is expected that the life 
of tJw..aacient poles-can be-pi:o 
longed indefinitely. 
Kispiox, ten miles from Hazel-

ton, was the first village to have its 
poles restored by the Society. This 
summer work began at Kitwancool, 
an Indian settlement said to have 
the world's best remaining stand of 

Branch briefs 

Church Point, N.S. 

totems on their original site. 
Some of the shorter posts were 

actual mortuaries, the body being 
placed in a hollow at the top and 
then sealed shut, in the same man-
ner as some tribes placed their dead 
in a box at the top of a tree. 
Dave Latimer, T. R. McDiarmid, 

and R. G. Gerrie are managers who 
followed Mr. Steele and became 
interested and involved in the In-
dian restoration programs. And 
B.C. district general manager W. D. 
H. Gardiner is a paid-up member of 

Jl1 

A Chilkat blanket, woven of goat's wool and cedar bark. This one is in 
the lobby of the building which houses our branch. 

Mrs. Sargent and Mr. Steele, with some of the Indian artifacts they have 
worked to preserve. 

A ritual mask, in the Skeena 
Treasure House. 

the Restoration Society -'talked 
into it,' naturally, by Mr. Steele. 
It is an unfortunate fact that too 

many people become conscious of 
history only when it is history, and 
too late to preserve the culture that 
went into its making. For today's 
young Indians, as for young people 
almost everywhere, their ancestral 
heritage has no special appeal in the 
modern setting to which they are 
trying to adjust. Many of the old 
songs and legends with which their 
background is coloured have been 
jotted down and translated, but 
many more will die with the old 
people unless a special effort is 
made to record them while there's 
still time. One of the few grave houses still intact, in the burial grounds at Hazelton. 

The Skeena Treasure House in Hazelton. At the left (partially hidden) is the restored Kitamuldo totem. 

Church Point, N.S. 

Pensioner E . F. LeBlanc, who re-
tired from Church Point Branch in 
1957 and now resides nearby, 
works on a seascape. Oil painting 
has been his main activity since 
retirement, and he recently gradu-
ated from a three-year home-study 
fine arts course. 

Cranbrook, B. C. 

Cranbrook Branch took on a dis-
tinctive old-time air when our staff 
joined in the local 'Sam Steele Days' 
celebration. 

Lima 

Lima 

Female staff members at Lima 
Branch, in their new uniforms. The 
three men in the photo are (left to 
right) R. K. Mennell, former man-
ager, now assistant supervisor at 
Bogota, district general manager 
H . L. Mann, and new manager 
I. B. Reid. 
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